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			AND IS THERE HONEY STILL FOR TEA?

			A Ben Schroeder Novel

			1965. The British Establishment is reeling after a series of defections and acts of treachery by high-ranking Intelligence Officers.

			When American academic, Francis Hollander, publicly accuses Sir James Digby QC of being a Soviet spy, he ignites a new storm of controversy. Trying to salvage his reputation, Digby turns to Ben Schroeder to sue Hollander for libel, but what at first appears to be a straightforward case soon escalates into something far more complex and dangerous.

			As evidence starts to emerge of Digby’s association with the Cambridge spies, and as MI6 becomes involved, Ben can no longer be sure that he can save Digby from prosecution and ruin. To obtain vital evidence to help his client, Ben will have to put his career at risk… But will it be enough?
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			Say, is there Beauty yet to find?

			And Certainty? And Quiet kind?

			Deep meadows yet, for to forget

			The lies, and truths, and pain?… oh! yet

			Stands the Church clock at ten to three?

			And is there honey still for tea?

			Rupert Brooke, 

			The Old Vicarage, Grantchester
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			Sir James Digby

			Of the days of my earliest childhood, before I started school, I remember little. I remember bright autumn days when the garden was covered with brown leaves fallen from the oak and sycamore trees which bounded the garden, which Sykes had not yet swept away. On breezy days, I watched as the leaves were swept up off the ground, and glided across the lawns haphazardly in the swirling eddies of the breeze. I imagined the leaves in a race, and traced a finishing line near the house with my shoe, and appointed myself judge of the winners. When the breeze was not strong enough for them to race without assistance, I would take Sykes’s broom, which he always left propped up against the same corner of the garden shed, and furiously brush the leaves along the path towards the finishing line. I remember rainy days in winter, when I was not allowed in the garden, when I would sit in the living room on the sofa and watch the patterns made by the rain drops as they traced their paths down the window pane, and tried to guess which drop would be the first to disappear into the general dampness as it reached the wood of the window frame. I remember light summer evenings when it was difficult to go to sleep because it was not yet dark; hearing the voices of my parents, and their friends and the older children of their friends, in the garden below my window, the sound floating dreamily up to where I lay restless in bed. I remember that, before I did go to sleep on such evenings, I would hold my breath for some time – how long I do not know – allowing the sounds to pass through my head until they merged and lost all meaning; and that by this means I had the power to go in my mind to another place, in which there was no sound, a place which was still and had no limits at all. And I remember standing with my parents and with Roger on the dark platforms of the great railway stations of Manchester and Crewe when we went away for holidays, watching with awe as the huge steam locomotives puffed their way slowly to a stop, making more noise than should have been possible in the world, as they pushed their steam out and upwards towards the soot-coated glass of the roof high above.

			I knew from an early age that my family was different. My father was always known as ‘Sir Alfred’. All my friends’ fathers were addressed as ‘Mr’ except for the one or two who were doctors. I knew that our house, an early eighteenth-century manor house in the countryside outside Clitheroe in the heart of the Ribble Valley, was far bigger than the houses most people lived in. I knew that we were unusual in having a household staff, though under my father’s careful stewardship of our small estate it had dwindled to four: Mr Bevan, who helped my father to manage the business side of the estate, keeping accounts and dealing with the leases of our two or three tenant farmers; Sykes, who took care of the garden; Mrs Penfold, who cooked when we had visitors and took care of the inside of the house; and her husband, Mr Penfold, who took care of the outside of the house, and did odd jobs, and sometimes drove my father when he went to catch the train for London, or my mother when she had a lot of shopping to do and, without ever telling my mother, placed the odd bet for my father on the Cup Final or the Grand National. I learned that we were proud Lancastrians. Our coat of arms featured the red rose; we had seats at Old Trafford during the cricket season; and at dinner, when my father proposed the loyal toast, we claimed the privilege of toasting ‘The King, the Duke of Lancaster’.

			My parents explained to me that the Baronetcy was the family’s reward for having backed the right side more than once in the various royal succession questions that kept recurring for more than a century after the Civil War. Generations later, we were still on good terms with the Royal Family. My parents knew the King and Queen and were their guests at garden parties and dinners. When we were old enough, Roger and I were introduced to them too, and I found them very charming. All this seemed normal to us. My father would talk about the King in much the same way as any man would talk about his friend. His title, ‘Sir Alfred’, was as much a part of him as the light gabardine raincoat and hat which he insisted on wearing everywhere and from which my mother could never part him. In any case, while I was proud of the Baronetcy, it was of no direct interest to me. I was born on 2nd November 1913. At that time, my brother Roger was almost four years old. It was always made clear to me that, as the older brother, he would inherit the title and with it, the responsibility of running the manor house and the estate. As the younger son I would enter a profession – the Army, the Church or the Bar – perhaps spending some time in one of the colonies.

			I cannot remember ever resenting Roger for being my older brother. Indeed, I can truthfully say that the title never came between us once. We were extraordinarily close. When I was eight, he was sent away to his boarding school. But before that, we were constant companions. We roamed the estate together, fighting wars as Saxons, Crusaders, or Cavaliers against invisible Normans, Infidels, or Roundheads; batting for England, making centuries in the face of the most hostile Australian bowling. We spent many a long summer day down by the stream at the far end of the estate – which we called the river – lying on its banks tasting blades of grass; conducting expeditions to find the site of Toad Hall, wondering how Toad would have got from the river to the road to find a car to drive, and where the Rat lived, and where he kept the boat he would have used to make his way along the river, and where lay the entrance to the great forest where the more frightening animals had their lairs. How many days we spent together in this way I cannot say; just that it felt, at the time, like a whole lifetime of days. We had a language of our own – a mad combination of English without verbs, supplemented by a variety of human or animal noises picked up during our wanderings around the estate – which mystified our parents and, I am sure, must have caused them to suspect that their progeny were not quite right in the head. But if they did suspect such an affliction, they never said so. Even today I can remember some of the language, and I can have a conversation with Roger in my mind, one into which no living person can intrude.

			After Roger went off to school, we carried on during school holidays for a few years as if nothing had ever interrupted us. My parents had decided that we would always go to different schools, and when my turn came to go, while the closeness remained, it necessarily changed. We had our own circles of friends, but we still spent some holidays together and we were regulars at Old Trafford during the cricket season. We shared a love of reading and I followed the trail of literature he left me: Sir Walter Scott and Daniel Defoe in childhood; and in adolescence Dickens and Edgar Allan Poe. I took on his love of poetry: he left me the Sonnets, of course, and Alexander Pope, Alfred Lord Tennyson, and Elizabeth Barrett Browning. Finally, as he left for his final year of school he led me to Boswell’s Life of Johnson. He had loved it from the moment he picked it up, and I came to love it just as much. We practised talking to each other in Boswell’s wonderful formal eighteenth-century English; ever afterwards I played Boswell to his Johnson, and we wrote our letters to each other in their style.

			He wrote to me as he left for a month in France before going up to Cambridge.

			London, 

			14 August 1927

			Sir,

			I am sensible of the great kindness with which you have favoured me since my arrival in Lancashire to prepare for my journey. I cannot allow that France is in any way superior to Lancashire, or its people in any way comparable to ours. But I shall endeavour to make a record of my travels which I undertake to submit to your perusal on my return, and it may be that I shall allow Mr Davies to publish it if sufficient terms can be agreed. I know not whether tea will be available to me there. A gentleman with whom I dined lately, and to whom I put the question, replied thus: ‘Sir, I doubt that a leaf of tea is anywhere to be found in France’. ‘Then Sir,’ I remarked, ‘it cannot be right to trust the inhabitants of that country, for no people ignorant of tea can be truly civilised.’ A gentleman who had much travelled in France protested and insisted on the gentility of the French people. ‘Nay, Sir,’ I replied, ‘I shall report to you about that matter on my return.’ I doubt that I shall find myself in agreement with him.

			I trust, my dear Sir, that I shall find you in good health on my return, and remain your humble and devoted servant,

			Sam Johnson

			I replied.

			Digby Manor

			20 August 1927

			Sir,

			Nothing could be more welcome to me than to receive your letter of the 14th instant with its habitual protestations of your high regard for me, which I assure you, are fully reciprocated. I have reported to your friends at the Club the anxiety you entertain as to the conditions you may expect to find in France. The proposition that tea will be hard to find and, if found, likely to be of inferior quality, is universally allowed. But certain gentlemen inform me that there are wines whose virtues may provide some limited compensation for the sense of deprivation you will certainly encounter. I look forward with keen anticipation to your report of your travels, which I apprehend any publisher would gratefully adopt for public subscription. I expect you may find France somewhat different from the Hebrides, but I trust you will find the people just as civil. I await the pleasure of taking tea with you and dining at the Mitre on your return.

			I remain, my dear Sir, your humble and respectful servant,

			Jas. Boswell.

			I idolised and adored Roger. He was my captain when we fought the Normans and when we made our centuries against Australia, and I followed his lead without question in everything we did. He was, throughout those early years, the rock on which my life was built.

		

	
		
			2

			1965

			Wednesday, 3 March

			Professor Francis R Hollander had not arranged for anyone to meet him at the airport. Apart from his solicitor Julia Cathermole, the Secretary of his Club, and the one or two colleagues who had to know, he had kept his plans to himself. It was not a social trip, and he was doing his best not to attract attention. If it were not for the interest he had recently aroused in the press, that would not have been a problem. Indeed, he might reasonably have assumed that his presence on board BOAC flight 247 from Washington DC to London Heathrow would pass entirely unnoticed. But as things were, he knew that the press might very well be lying in wait for him somewhere. In his mind he had created the spectre of a confrontation with reporters demanding a statement even before he boarded his flight in Washington. Mercifully, he had been spared that; there had been no obvious press presence there. But he had no way of knowing what awaited him when he touched down in London. It was not that he wanted to avoid the press; on the contrary, some carefully-planned publicity was exactly what he wanted and needed. But the operative words were ‘carefully planned’. He had no desire to be jostled by a throng of reporters at the airport while he was tired and groggy. He preferred to meet them on his own terms – in central London, at a properly convened press conference, when he felt refreshed and awake.

			Hollander was in his mid-thirties, tall and thin, with pale skin and thinning light brown hair brushed carefully back to reveal a prominent forehead. His habitually thoughtful look had resulted in a perpetually wrinkled brow. He had travelled, with no concession to the discomfort of the long flight, in his customary light brown suit, pale blue shirt with blue and yellow polka-dot bow tie, spectacles with light brown frames, and meticulously polished brown lace-up shoes – all of which he regarded as his trademark academic uniform. He had braced himself for an unwelcome reception, and had rehearsed a set speech a hundred times during the flight but, to his relief, when he emerged from Customs with his luggage into a cold, misty London morning, he was not aware of anyone paying particular attention to him. He closed his eyes and took a deep breath with a silent prayer of gratitude. But even so, when the man approached as he stood, shivering slightly, in the queue at the taxi rank, Hollander was not particularly surprised.

			‘Welcome to London, Professor Hollander,’ the man said. ‘I’m sure you don’t want to spend all morning standing in this queue. Why don’t you let me give you a lift?’

			Hollander was about to offer his prepared speech, but stopped himself almost at once as he realised his error. He knew almost instantly that he was not dealing with the press. Hollander was not exactly an expert in such matters, but he had made several trips behind the Iron Curtain, certainly enough to know when he had a minder. The man who had approached him was of average height, well short of Hollander’s own six feet three, but he was well built and carried no extra weight. He was dressed in a light grey raincoat, the belt tied tightly around his waist, and a slightly darker grey trilby hat with a black band around the rim. Hollander put his age at late forties or early fifties. He had both his hands stuffed into the pockets of the coat. Even through his irritation Hollander could not resist a momentary smile at the blatant stereotype of the hat and coat. His instincts were awake now, and the glance over his shoulder to his left, his blind side, was automatic. Sure enough, the stereotype was complete. An almost identically dressed second man stood a few feet away, apparently uninterested, doing his best to blend in with the groups of passengers leaving and arriving at the terminal. It doesn’t matter where you are, he reflected; some things never change. He knew the drill. He had a minder – whether he wanted one or not.

			‘That’s very kind of you,’ Hollander replied, picking up his suitcase.

			‘My pleasure. Allow me.’ The man relieved him deftly of the suitcase, leaving Hollander to carry only his brown patent leather briefcase. Hollander was soon grateful for the gesture as the man led the way at a fast pace across the access road, through a number of bleak open concrete spaces, and into the covered car park. As they approached the black Humber Hawk, the driver climbed smartly out of his seat. He was a small man, dressed in a dark blue suit and tie. Without a word, he took the suitcase from the minder and consigned it to the boot. The minder ushered Hollander into the back of the car on the driver’s side before walking around the back of the car to take his own seat beside him on the passenger’s side. The second man had disappeared somewhere along the route.

			‘My name is Baxter,’ the man said, extending his hand, once the driver had left the car park and was threading his way towards the main trunk road leading into central London. Hollander nodded. He doubted the name was genuine, but everyone had to use some name or other, and it was of no consequence. He took Baxter’s hand without enthusiasm.

			‘Where are you staying?’

			‘At my club – the Reform Club in Pall Mall.’

			Baxter glanced up towards the driver, who indicated by a slight nod of the head that he had heard. 

			‘Very nice. We will get you there as soon as we can. Let’s hope the traffic’s not too bad.’

			They drove on in silence for some time. Hollander followed the road signs, noting that the driver was indeed taking the shortest route to the city centre. He tried to sit back and relax, but he was unsettled. The press would have been unwelcome, but at least he would have known exactly what they wanted. He could have answered a few questions, promised more in a few days’ time, and fought his way through to a taxi. But with Baxter, he was in uncharted territory. Why were they taking such an interest in him? It could be good or bad; but it was certainly not simply neutral. Baxter had not brought a car to meet him at Heathrow for the pleasure of his company.

			‘Look, Baxter, I appreciate the ride into town, but …’

			Baxter turned towards him. 

			‘Please don’t be concerned, Professor,’ he said. ‘I am here to help you – together with those I work for, of course.’

			‘Help in what way? What interest do you have in helping me?’

			Baxter smiled.

			‘I think you know that without my telling you,’ he replied. ‘But if I have to spell it out for you, we have a common interest in the outcome of the forthcoming legal action to be brought against you by Sir James Masefield Digby QC.’

			Hollander turned his head away again to look straight ahead. Of course. He suddenly felt very stupid. How could they not take an interest? But the question was: what was their agenda? Whose side were they on? This was Digby’s territory, after all. He felt any slight sense of security he had slipping away. The car’s heater was beginning to have some effect and the windows were steaming up. With a gentle circular motion of the back of his right hand, he created a small area of clear vision on the side window to his right. But there was nothing worth seeing unless he kept looking straight ahead, past the driver, through the front windscreen. Traffic was light and they were making good progress towards town.

			‘Naturally, we have read and analysed your article with some care,’ Baxter was saying. ‘It seems obvious that you have information, and perhaps sources of information, which would be of interest to us.’

			Hollander had no idea how to respond. Nothing very coherent came to mind.

			‘I realise that Digby may well take legal action, of course,’ he replied. ‘I and everyone involved with the Journal knew that there was a risk before we ever published…’

			Baxter laughed out loud.

			‘A risk? Professor, with all due respect, you know as well as I do that Digby has only one possible response to your article. He has no choice at all. In the eyes of anyone reading your article, anyone taking it seriously, his reputation is in pieces. You have destroyed the man. Of course he is going to sue.’

			Hollander looked down at his feet.

			‘This is not mere conjecture,’ Baxter continued. ‘If you read the papers here, you would know that Digby has already made his intentions known quite clearly in the British press, and he has already retained solicitors and counsel. So it’s no longer a question of risk; it is about to become a reality. To put it bluntly, he is going to sue you for everything you are worth. The action will be extremely expensive to defend, and should you lose, it will be ruinous.’ 

			Hollander remained silent for some time. Baxter showed no inclination to press him further until he was ready.

			‘All right,’ he said eventually. ‘Let’s assume you are right. What exactly is your interest in the matter?’

			‘I should have thought that also was fairly obvious,’ Baxter replied. ‘You have written an article in which you claim that Sir James Digby QC, a pillar of the community, leading barrister, Queen’s Counsel, and all-round good chap, has been spying for the Russians for a number of years, giving away our secrets behind our backs.’

			‘I am quite sure you knew that before you read my article,’ Hollander rejoined.

			‘A conclusion that you reach,’ Baxter said, ignoring the comment, ‘without any actual evidence, as far as we can see: which means that Digby is going to have you for breakfast in court – unless, of course, you do in fact have some evidence. If you do, we would like to know about it for our own purposes. That, in a nutshell, is our interest in the case, Professor.’

			Hollander smiled. ‘Yet, earlier, you said that we had a common interest …’

			‘We do,’ Baxter replied, ‘in certain circumstances. If what you wrote in your article proved to be a pack of lies, then we could not care less. We would happily sit back and watch while Digby gives you the thrashing you richly deserve. On the other hand, if there is substance in it, that is a matter in which we have a very serious interest, and we are prepared to offer you certain assistance in defending yourself against Digby’s action – in our interests, of course, as well as yours.’

			‘What kind of assistance?’ Hollander asked cautiously. 

			‘The answer to that question is rather technical,’ Baxter replied. ‘I would need to discuss it with Julia. But it would be designed, obviously, to make it worth your while to share with us any information, or sources, you may have which are not credited in the article.’

			Hollander’s jaw dropped. There were only four people, of whom he and Julia were two, who knew that he had retained Julia Cathermole as his solicitor. They had exchanged correspondence and a phone call, but …

			‘How in God’s name do you know about Julia?’ he spluttered. ‘I have only just …’

			Baxter laughed again. ‘Julia Cathermole’s father was family,’ he replied. ‘Nigel was a colleague for many years, and we have kept a benign eye on Julia’s progress ever since she became a solicitor, and particularly since she started her firm. We have only had contact with her very occasionally. But we had an interest in one of the first big cases she handled, a few years ago. We haven’t spoken to her about your case, but it wasn’t too hard to find out that you were interested in having her represent you, and in our view you couldn’t have made a better choice.’

			Hollander shook his head and returned his attention to the small area of vision on his side window.

			‘Our only reservation,’ Baxter continued, ‘is that we are not sure you understand fully what your defence is going to involve. It is going to be a long and complicated case, and it is going to be very expensive. Cathermole & Bridger is not a cheap firm of solicitors. Have you thought about that?’

			Hollander had, in fact, thought a great deal about that, without arriving at any real conclusion. He had some resources, or rather, potential resources which had been promised before the article was published, and he had reason to hope that sympathy for his stance would attract further support. But thus far, there was very little actual money in the bank. It was something he would have to raise with Julia immediately. He was suddenly quite sure that Baxter knew all that already.

			‘We want to make sure that you don’t have to worry,’ Baxter said. ‘We will make certain arrangements. Tell Julia what I have said when you see her. She will know what to do. All you have to do today is to check into the Reform, have a nice quiet day, enjoy a good dinner, and get a good night’s sleep.’

			‘But …’

			‘That’s all you have to do.’

			Hollander peered uselessly through his area of vision, which was now steaming up as fast as he could clear it.

			‘I still don’t really understand,’ he said. ‘You are going to considerable lengths here.’

			Baxter shrugged. ‘There’s no great mystery, Professor,’ he replied. ‘My superiors believe, rightly or wrongly, that they can’t afford to have you lose this case, any more than you can afford to lose it.’

			They passed the remainder of the trip in silence.

			‘What is it about the Reform Club?’ Baxter asked, as the car pulled up alongside number 104 Pall Mall.

			‘What?’

			‘There must be something about the place that attracts people like you.’

			Hollander stared at him blankly for several seconds before opening the door.

			‘People like me?’ he asked.

			‘People who are lost without a bit of intrigue in their lives,’ Baxter explained.

			‘They do a very nice dinner,’ Hollander replied tartly, pushing himself out of the car on to the pavement, ‘and they have comfortable rooms. Perhaps you should find someone to propose you for membership.’

			The driver deposited his suitcase on the kerb next to him with a friendly salute and climbed back behind the wheel.

			‘Perhaps I should,’ Baxter smiled.

			Hollander closed the door, none too gently. Almost at once the driver pulled the car smoothly away from the kerb.
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			Monday, 8 March

			Ben Schroeder knocked on the door and waited for Bernard Wesley’s familiar shout of ‘Come!’ before entering. Ben had been a member of Chambers for two years, and had adapted to the general practice of putting one’s head around the door of any room which was not displaying a ‘Conference’ sign without knocking. But the general practice did not apply to Bernard Wesley’s room. Wesley was a Silk, and the Head of Chambers, and although he was capable of a great personal warmth and charm, he had never quite relaxed the formality he had learned as part of his own training at the Bar. The room reflected Wesley’s temperament exactly. The inlaid top of his antique desk was a dark green, which complemented the lighter green leather of his sofa and armchairs to perfection. Much of the wall space was devoted to huge, deep bookcases, laden with handsome leather-bound volumes of the law reports. The remaining spaces were adorned by a number of original eighteenth-century racing prints. Wesley was standing by the window behind his desk, one of a pair of enormous sash windows which offered a panoramic view over the Middle Temple gardens. He turned towards Ben and moved back towards his desk.

			‘Ben, come in. Have a seat.’

			Ben lowered himself into the armchair to the left of the desk. He was a handsome young man of twenty-seven, almost six feet in height with a thin, lithe build. His hair was black, and his eyes a deep brown, set rather deep in his face because of strikingly prominent cheek bones, allowing him to fix a witness with a disconcertingly intense stare when he cross-examined. He wore an immaculately tailored three-piece suit, dark grey with the lightest of white pin-stripes, a thin gold pocket watch attached to a gold chain threaded through the middle button hole of his waistcoat, and a fluted white handkerchief in the top pocket of his jacket. As a young Jewish man from the East End of London, his pathway into the most conservative of professions had not been smooth, but a number of striking successes in the courtroom had made his place in Chambers secure, and had already brought him wider recognition at the Bar. If his place in the profession had ever been in doubt – and Ben’s temperament had often led him to doubt it – he had every reason now to believe that the time for doubt had passed. The fact that he was to be Bernard Wesley’s junior in this case was ample proof.

			Ben laid his papers and notebook on the corner of Wesley’s desk. The papers were wrapped in a backsheet which bore the name and address of the prestigious West End firm of Harper Sutton & Harper.

			‘We don’t have much from Herbert, do we?’ he asked, ‘apart from the article itself.’

			Wesley seated himself behind his desk.

			‘No,’ he agreed. ‘He won’t have had much of a chance to go into it yet. It’s all blown up too quickly, hasn’t it? In any case, I strongly suspect that Herbert wants our advice before he digs too deeply into this particular hornets’ nest. For one thing, Herbert is a strictly civil man, needless to say, and this may well have criminal implications. Merlin said he had referred Herbert to a criminal solicitor who can help out with that side of things, if needed. Is he going to be with us today?’

			‘Yes, Barratt Davis, of Bourne & Davis. They send quite a lot of work to the more junior tenants in chambers.’

			Wesley nodded. ‘I’ve heard Merlin mention them. Crime really isn’t my field, as you know. Are they dependable? In a case like this …’

			‘They are very good. They prepare a case well and they stay with it. I’ve done a fair bit of work for them, including that capital murder I did with Martin Hardcastle last year.’

			‘Ah, yes,’ Wesley said. ‘I remember that, of course.’

			He paused.

			‘Has that memory receded to some extent?’

			‘To some extent,’ Ben replied. 

			Wesley nodded his understanding. ‘That’s a hard case to lose. But to those of us not involved, it did appear that the prosecution had an overwhelming case. And you came out of it very well in the Court of Criminal Appeal – as opposed to Martin Hardcastle. Has he been heard of since?’

			Ben closed his eyes. A hard case to lose. Yes, a case which ended with your client being hanged certainly qualified as a hard case to lose; especially when your leader turned out to be an alcoholic who missed the most important day of the trial and then advised the defendant that there was no need for him to give evidence in support of his alibi. Ben had spoken out against Hardcastle’s advice, but in vain; the QC had the client’s trust. Predictably, Hardcastle’s advice failed to prevent the verdict of guilty, but his professional failings attracted no sympathy in the Court of Criminal Appeal. Hardcastle’s career lay in ruins, but Billy Cottage had been hanged, notwithstanding.

			‘I believe he has retired from practice,’ Ben replied, opening his eyes.

			There was a silence. 

			‘Do you know Digby well?’ Ben asked, anxious to change the subject. ‘I am sure you must.’

			‘I know him,’ Wesley replied. ‘But not well. He is a Chancery man, one of that rare breed who understands things like land law and trusts. He ventures out into the real world occasionally for a probate action or the odd defended divorce. I had one of those against him a year or two ago. He was called in 1935, I think, took Silk in the mid-1950s. Not the most exciting advocate, but a very sharp mind.’

			‘That sounds very much like the Chancery Division,’ Ben said, smiling. ‘But he doesn’t sound like the sort of man who would get caught up in espionage, does he?’

			Wesley looked up briefly at the ceiling.

			‘What kind of man does get caught up in espionage?’ he asked. ‘I’ve never seen the attraction myself, I must say. But I suppose a sharp mind would come in useful. He is one of the country’s leading chess players. Did you know that?’

			Ben shook his head. ‘No. Not something I follow, I’m afraid.’

			‘Neither do I,’ Wesley said. ‘I just about remember how the pieces move. But apparently, he is a very strong player. And I seem to remember hearing that he worked for the Security Services during the War.’

			‘Really?’ Ben asked. ‘Doing what?’ 

			‘Interrogating suspected German spies, and the like. There were a number of members of the Bar who remained in practice and were called in when needed. Helenus Milmo was certainly very involved, and I think Digby was one of them also.’

			‘And he has a title.’

			Wesley nodded. ‘Yes. He is Sir James Masefield Digby, a baronet. It’s a hereditary title. The family is from Lancashire, if I remember rightly, and the title goes back a couple of hundred years. The family has close ties to the Royal Family. Digby had an older brother who was first in line to inherit the title, but he died young. So when Digby’s father died, the Baronetcy fell to him and he became Sir James.’

			Ben nodded. He removed the ribbon from his papers, selected the document on top of the stack, and skimmed through it.

			‘Well, I don’t think Herbert needs our advice on whether or not the allegations Hollander makes are libellous,’ he observed. ‘I would say that was a given, wouldn’t you?’

			Wesley thought for a moment or two.

			‘Assuming them to be false,’ he replied. ‘On that assumption, yes, I would agree.’
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			Perfidious Albion: Why the United States can no longer Afford to Trust Great Britain

			Francis R Hollander, Associate Professor of Political Science, Yale University

			When, if ever, will the United States, and particularly the CIA, wake up and realize that Great Britain is no longer a reliable ally, and that we can no longer afford to trust her with our nation’s secrets? The steady drain of the most sensitive secret materials and information to the Soviet Union via a succession of highly-placed spies has made a joke of the much-vaunted British Special Intelligence Service, SIS, otherwise known as MI6. But it is a joke which is no laughing matter for America, because too many of the secrets which have found their way to Moscow are ours. Consider the recent history alone. On May 25, 1951, two British men, Guy Burgess and Donald Maclean, disappeared and later surfaced in Moscow, apparently residing contentedly in that city as distinguished guests of the Soviet government. What do we know of these men? 

			Guy Burgess is known to have visited the Soviet Union in 1934. By 1938 he was working for MI6. Later, after spending some time with the British Broadcasting Corporation, he returned to intelligence work via the Foreign Office, and in 1950 he was appointed Second Secretary at the British Embassy in Washington DC, remaining in this post until his disappearance the following year. 

			Donald Maclean, a linguist by training, had a distinguished career in the Foreign Office. In 1935, he was Third Secretary in London, but in 1938 he was posted to Paris, and in 1940 was promoted to Second Secretary after playing a heroic role in the evacuation of the personnel of the British Embassy there in the face of the advancing German forces. In 1944, he was posted to the Embassy in Washington as acting First Secretary, and in 1947 he was appointed secretary to the British Delegation to the Combined Policy Committee, a role which would have given him first-hand access to almost all of our military intelligence and secrets, including information related to our nuclear weapons program. Between 1948 and 1951 he seems to have had serious personal problems. He was posted first to Cairo and then to London, from where he vanished with Burgess in May 1951.

			Burgess and Maclean were both professional and personal associates of a third man, H.A.R. ‘Kim’ Philby. Philby joined MI6 in 1940, and remained with the Service until 1951. That date, with its implied link to Burgess and Maclean, is no coincidence. In his first post in MI6 he reported to Guy Burgess. During the War, he had important responsibilities, first for the supposedly neutral states of Spain and Portugal, later for North Africa and Italy. In 1944, however, he was appointed head of a new Section of MI6 concerned with the Soviet Union and the beginnings of the Western resistance to communism. In 1946 he became Head of Station in Turkey, the historic bridge between East and West and, therefore, a key area for intelligence in what was to become the Cold War. Then, in 1949, he was appointed MI6’s representative in Washington, a post in which he would no doubt have remained indefinitely. But when Burgess and Maclean disappeared, suspicion fell on Philby as being the so-called Third Man: that is to say, a spy who had worked for many years with Burgess and Maclean to pass some of our most sensitive secrets – not to mention those of his own country – to the Soviet Union. He was forced to resign from MI6 but, remarkably, he was exonerated after a number of inquiries. He later re-emerged as a freelance journalist working for a number of respected titles, including The Economist. He was last seen in Beirut in 1963, from where he disappeared, like his friends Burgess and Maclean, no doubt to a hero’s welcome in Moscow.

			I obtained some of the information for this article from sources who cannot be named for fear of compromising their professional standing and, indeed, their personal safety. But much information is now in the public domain as a result of more recent well-publicized scandals in Great Britain, which frustrated the natural inclination of the British government to cover up the failings of its security services. In 1961, a Russian-born intelligence officer, Gordon Lonsdale, was unmasked as a spy, arrested and prosecuted. In 1962, George Blake, an officer of MI6, was convicted of spying for the Soviets since the early 1950s. In the same year, John Vassall was likewise arrested and convicted of passing Admiralty secrets. In 1963, the British Minister for War, John Profumo, was compelled to resign after the revelation of his relationship with a call-girl by the name of Christine Keeler, whose services he was sharing with a naval attaché at the Soviet Embassy in London – an affair in which many believe MI6 was implicated.

			Certain questions must be asked. What do these British spies have in common? Is there anything which explains the reluctance of the British government to reveal their activities frankly and openly, if not publicly, at least to its most important ally, the United States? Are there others linked to the known spies, still at large and in positions of influence, who continue to betray their country and ours to the Soviets? If so, who are they?

			First, what do they have in common? Guy Burgess, Donald Maclean, and Kim Philby are all graduates of Trinity College or Trinity Hall in the University of Cambridge and began their studies there in the period 1929 – 1931. All are known to have had communist sympathies during their time in Cambridge. Maclean and Philby were members of the Cambridge University Socialist Society. Burgess had also been a member of the Apostles, a secretive debating society based in Trinity College which has left-wing, anti-establishment tendencies. The three men continued to associate after their time at Cambridge and worked their way into the heart of the British establishment where they were seemingly immune from suspicion and where they had ample opportunity to pass secrets. They did this by posing as loyal patriots who had repudiated their early sympathies with communism. In 1937 Philby went to Spain to cover the civil war as a journalist from the Franco side, and received an award – the Red Cross of Military Merit – from the General personally for his efforts. Burgess and Maclean also took steps to hide their left-wing leanings. All three are known to drink heavily. Burgess is a known homosexual – the practice of which is a criminal offence in England. All three have been implicated by Soviet defectors in the business of espionage. And Burgess and Philby had a long, close personal and professional relationship with James Jesus Angleton, now the doyen of the CIA, a man educated in England and inured in English ways, and who learned his trade as a spy at the feet of Kim Philby.

			Are there likely to be others? There have been whispers of a ‘fourth man’. But in truth it would not be surprising if there were a fifth, sixth, or even a hundredth man. It seems plain that there was at least one first-rate talent-spotter at Cambridge in the early 1930s. Some have whispered about Anthony Blunt who was, during the relevant period, a research student and later Fellow of Trinity, and an Apostle. But Blunt is a respected art historian, Surveyor of the Queen’s Pictures, and evidently quite above reproach. As, apparently, is anyone in Great Britain who has been to the right school and college, wears the right tie, and is part of the Establishment. The belief that a gentleman would never betray his country appears to be just as strong now as it was during the Victorian era.

			The early and mid-1930s was a period when left-wing causes, including communism, had considerable appeal to young intellectuals. The rise of fascism and the Spanish Civil War, and the apparent unwillingness of western governments to lift a finger to stop it, was repugnant to many. To many, it seemed that the Soviet Union offered the only hope of resistance. The young students of Trinity were fruit ripe for the plucking by any Soviet agent. Before and during the World War there may have been every reason to see the Soviet Union as an ally – the temporary pact between Hitler and Stalin notwithstanding. After the War, the Soviet Union suddenly became the enemy. But by that time, it may be that some had been ensnared into spying for Moscow and were in too deep to get out.

			Consider the case of Sir James Masefield Digby QC. Sir James – the title comes from his position as a baronet, a minor branch of nobility – entered Cambridge University in 1931, the same year as Donald Maclean, a year after Guy Burgess, and two years after Kim Philby. Like Maclean and Philby he was a member of the University Socialist Society. Like Burgess, he was an Apostle. Like all three, he made his way into a respected professional way of life, in which he could have considerable influence. But in Digby’s case that profession is the law. After completing his degree at Trinity, he was called to the Bar by Lincoln’s Inn in 1934 and went on to practice as a barrister in London. He took Silk – became a Queen’s Counsel, a mark of distinction which opens the way for practice in more important cases – in 1955. Nothing overt to suggest espionage so far. But Digby has another talent.

			Digby is a strong chess player, one of the strongest in Great Britain. I also play chess to a respectable level and, in 1962, I was invited to accompany the United States chess team to Varna, Bulgaria, where it was to compete in the Olympiad, an international team tournament held every two years. Sadly, I am not good enough to play for a team which can boast the likes of Bobby Fischer, but I have worked closely with the Fédération Internationale des Echecs – FIDE – the world-governing body for the game. Chess is a very political game, largely because the Soviets view their success in it as an advertisement for communism. As the son of a Russian mother who fled Soviet Russia as a child, I am fluent in the language and I am able to negotiate for the team in that atmosphere, perhaps more effectively than others might.

			While in Varna, I was approached by a Soviet grandmaster by the name of Viktor Stepanov. I had already met Stepanov a number of times because he had often represented the Soviet Union at meetings of FIDE. I liked him more than other Soviet players I had met. Once you got past the usual Soviet paranoia, Stepanov could be a charming and interesting conversationalist. His English was good and he seemed to be a man of broad education. But he was not in a conversational mood on this occasion. He insisted on taking me to drink vodka in a doubtful-looking bar some distance from the tournament hall. I remember that we seemed to take a very roundabout route to get there, which I took to be his way of losing his minder – rightly or wrongly I always assume that Soviet grandmasters have KGB connections. They certainly have minders.

			After three or four vodkas, Stepanov told me that he was desperately unhappy and wished to defect to the United States. It took me several minutes to recover from the shock. I was astounded, not only to learn that he wished to defect, but also that he should have offered such dangerous information to a man he did not know well. I began to protest that I was not the right person to ask, but he interrupted me. He said he knew that I am a professor of political science and assumed that I must have connections with the CIA – which, for the record, I do not. Before I could stop him, he insisted on telling me that he had valuable information to pass to the CIA, information which could prevent the loss of many secrets and the deaths of western agents behind the Iron Curtain. It would probably have been safer, both for Stepanov and myself, if I had stopped him from going further, but I did not.

			Stepanov told me that in 1948 he had been instructed to attempt to recruit an English spy, a chess player. His instructions came from Moscow, but he was led to believe that the arrangement had been instigated by an agent in London. The man in question was James Masefield Digby, and the occasion was the World Chess Championship tournament. Stepanov was told that although Digby worked as a lawyer, he had worked for MI6 during the War and retained links with the Service.

			It had not been possible to hold a world title tournament during the War, and in 1946 the title had become vacant because of the death of the holder, Alexander Alekhin. The five players judged to be the strongest in the world were selected to contest the title, and if I were to tell you about even a fraction of the diplomacy required within FIDE to bring that about, I would need to write another article. It is enough to note that the tournament was split into two parts. The first began in The Hague on March 1, 1948, and the second was held in Moscow, beginning on April 11 of that year. Stepanov was told that Digby would be covering the tournament as a journalist on behalf of various newspapers and chess magazines, and that he was vulnerable because of his left-wing leanings and his frustration about the lack of respect for chess in the West compared to the Soviet Union. He said that, following his instructions, he approached Digby in The Hague, but only to build a relationship. The serious work was to be done later in Moscow, where it was far safer. I think everyone assumed that various intelligence services would be taking some interest in the tournament. He told me that Digby confirmed that he retained links with MI6 and agreed to work with the Soviets. Every year since 1948, Digby had been invited to Russia to attend the prestigious Soviet Chess Championship, sometimes under cover of working as a chess journalist, but sometimes simply as a guest, invited to play in a minor tournament or give a simultaneous exhibition to students.

			Needless to say, I pressed Stepanov for details, but he refused to tell me any more until I had approached the CIA about his defection and received a favorable answer. We agreed to meet at a tournament in Belgrade, in which he had been given permission to compete, early in 1963. On my return to the United States from Varna, I used a contact to obtain an interview with a senior officer of the CIA. I told this officer what had happened, and asked him to take the matter further. I offered to act as a go-between for Stepanov, as he had chosen me to confide in. The officer thanked me profusely, and promised to see what could be done and to keep me fully informed. But no decision was made, and early in 1963 I saw Stepanov’s obituary in the Soviet chess magazine Sixty-Four. It said that he was a middle-ranking grandmaster, who had won a few relatively minor tournaments and had made a relatively minor contribution to opening theory in the Sicilian Defense. His body had been found in his flat in Moscow. He had apparently died of a heart attack. Well, that’s what they always say, isn’t it?

			There is no way of knowing how many secrets Digby and those like him have passed to the Soviets, or how important those secrets were, or how many agents of ours behind the Iron Curtain have died as a result. I feel partly responsible for the death of Viktor Stepanov, though in truth I do not feel that I could have dissuaded him from trying to seek freedom in the West. In a gesture of atonement, and because it is a subject on which the light urgently needs to shine, I publish this article. I hope that, as a result, both our Government and that of Great Britain will find it less easy to ignore the extent of this tragic history of espionage and the damage it has caused.
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			Bernard Wesley tossed Francis Hollander’s article on to his desk, removed his reading glasses and placed them beside the article.

			‘I have not read out the whole article, of course,’ he said. ‘It goes on at some length. I left out the more arcane points of political theory which Hollander presumably intended to lend it an air of academic respectability. But I think the parts I have read are enough for our purposes today.’

			He looked around his room. Ben Schroeder sat to his left at the side of his desk, notebook open, pen in hand. 

			In front of the desk on his left, Sir James Masefield Digby QC sat slumped in his chair. Digby was a tall man, thin and willowy in build, wearing a dark grey three-piece suit and a blue and white spotted tie. His hair was still mainly dark, but there were flecks of grey, with more prominent grey in his sideburns. His face was a handsome one, and used to wearing a confident smile. But today there was no air of confidence about him. Today, his face was lined with stress, and dark marks around the eyes suggested a prolonged lack of sleep. His shoulders sagged. He had kept his head lowered while Wesley had been reading from Hollander’s article.

			Sitting beside Digby, in front of the desk to Wesley’s right, was Herbert Harper, senior partner of Harper Sutton & Harper, one of London’s leading firms of solicitors, a firm of choice for the rich and influential in divorce and important civil cases. Harper was also dressed in a dark grey suit, but two-piece, and with a rich purple tie over his white shirt. He had been in practice for more than 40 years and was now over 67 years of age, but there had never once been so much as a rumour of impending retirement. He still had an energy which many men half his age might have envied, and he relished his work. Harper’s relationship with Bernard Wesley went back many years. They knew each other well, and Harper sent much of his firm’s work in the courts to Wesley’s chambers. Harper’s experience had accustomed him to most of the vagaries of litigation, but this was a case which disturbed him. It had implications which went far beyond the realms of any work he had done before.

			Barratt Davis sat farthest from the desk on the sofa by the wall. He felt a little overawed. His work was in the criminal courts and it was a rare experience for him to mix with solicitors of Harper’s eminence. On the other hand, he had the confidence which came from knowing that he might hold a key piece of the puzzle faced by the others in the room. He was aware that his expertise was one which everyone present would prefer to avoid – if it could be avoided – and he was more than content to bide his time and wait to be asked for his opinion if it became relevant. Davis was also a non-conformist in one respect and, even in this company, he was determined not to abandon his customary sartorial rebellion. His suit was a professional black, but he wore a dramatic yellow and blue tie over a dark blue shirt, and he had been gratified to see Harper’s eyes open wide as they were introduced. By his side sat his assistant, Jess Farrar, dressed in a light grey two-piece suit, her hair tied back in a neat bun.

			‘James would like your advice about how to proceed in this situation, Bernard,’ Harper began. ‘At present he takes the view that he has no real choice in the matter. But I have advised him that we need to examine the options very carefully before committing ourselves. To begin with, I have one or two technical questions. Firstly, do our courts have jurisdiction? Secondly, if so, is Hollander judgment-proof?’

			Wesley nodded. ‘I think Ben has looked at the question of jurisdiction.’

			‘I have,’ Ben replied. He smiled inwardly at the invitation to participate so early in the consultation. His previous experience with a Silk, Martin Hardcastle, during the Cottage murder trial, might have suggested that as junior counsel he would be allowed to open his mouth in the presence of a Silk rarely, and only when strictly necessary. Bernard Wesley’s approach made a welcome change. 

			‘Hollander has published the article in England entirely independently of the original publication in the United States. That’s quite apart from allowing the press to reproduce extracts from it. The newspapers have covered themselves by making sure to attribute every word to Hollander, but Hollander has re-issued the article here himself. I don’t see any reason why the English High Court could not take jurisdiction and, if we get judgment, we can ask an American court to enforce it, if necessary. Service of process might have been a slight problem, but Hollander seems to have made that easy for us. He has gone out of his way over the weekend to advertise his arrival in England and the fact that he is staying at the Reform Club. So, service will not be a problem.’

			‘I saw that in the Sunday Times,’ Wesley said. ‘Apparently he gave a press conference on Friday evening. It is almost as though he is daring us to come and get him. I think we ought to take some note of that.’

			‘As to Hollander being judgment-proof …’ Ben continued.

			‘This is not about money,’ Digby interrupted. ‘It is about repairing the damage to my reputation.’

			‘Yes, James,’ Harper said, sounding a little impatient, ‘but we have been through this before. Bringing proceedings for libel in the High Court is an expensive business. It is not just a question of damages. There are the costs to consider.’

			‘The Ivy League Political Remembrancer is an independent journal,’ Ben continued. ‘As far as I can see, it is Hollander’s own creation and he is in charge of it. He is described on the inside cover as the Managing Editor and Editor-in-Chief. There are one or two assistant editors, but there is no indication that they have any voice in how it is run. And it does not seem to be connected directly to Yale University.’

			‘So it may be something of a pyrrhic victory,’ Wesley observed. ‘We may win a judgment and an award of damages, but if Hollander has no assets to speak of, we may recover very little and be stuck with our own costs – not to mention that we might well incur further costs in trying to enforce the judgment in America.’

			Wesley looked at Digby, who raised his shoulders and spread his hands out wide in a gesture of resignation.

			‘I am aware of the risks,’ he said. ‘But what choice do I have? If I don’t sue Hollander for libel immediately, people will assume that what he says is true. They are bound to. I will have no future at the Bar, or in Society. I will be an outcast. Both I and my family will be ruined. The Queen may even take away the Baronetcy, for God’s sake.’

			‘On the other hand,’ Harper said, ‘if you do sue him, you will be at the mercy of a jury, and you will have your whole life dissected in public. Whether you sue or not, they may still try to prosecute you in the criminal courts. And as Bernard says, even if we win, we may not even be able to cover our costs, let alone collect the damages.’

			‘I am not short of cash, Herbert,’ Digby said. ‘I will pay your costs, if I have to. Any damages I am awarded will go to charity in any event. This is about clearing my name.’

			There was a silence for some time.

			‘Barratt, I would welcome your input on the possibility of criminal prosecution,’ Wesley said. ‘I am particularly concerned about whether it is likely even if James does not sue for libel.’

			Barratt had allowed himself to sprawl slightly in the comfort of the sofa. He now quickly sat up straight.

			‘The Attorney-General moves in mysterious ways,’ he replied. ‘We have had cases recently in which you would think a prosecution is quite inevitable, but nothing is done. On the other hand, there are cases where action is taken against someone and you ask yourself why on earth they are bothering. In this particular case, I think they will prosecute if they think they have the evidence.’

			‘Because …?’ Wesley asked.

			‘They need to reassure the public that they are doing something,’ Davis replied. ‘Before Burgess and Maclean there had been no real evidence to suggest the need for prosecutions for espionage since the War. Burgess and Maclean got away. They would have gone after Philby if they thought they had the evidence, but clearly, they didn’t, and they eventually lost him. But they went after Lonsdale, they went after Blake, and they went after Vassall, and they are still not sure they have cleaned the stables. They even went after the wretched Stephen Ward, poor fellow. Many people don’t view the Profumo scandal as an espionage case, but I think that is naïve. The press is still talking about a fourth man. People still don’t think the Security Services are secure. The Government is still under pressure. Unfortunately, James has a high profile. They will probably feel they cannot ignore him. But the good news is that they can’t prosecute him without evidence.’

			Wesley nodded. ‘And that’s the key to it,’ he said. 

			‘Either way,’ Digby insisted, ‘I have no choice.’

			‘There are always choices,’ Wesley replied.

			‘For God’s sake, Bernard. I have already told the newspapers I intend to sue.’

			‘That does not tie your hands. You can always find a reason.’

			‘Not in this case. The man is accusing me of treason, of betraying my country.’

			‘Yes,’ Wesley agreed. ‘But on what basis? On the basis of a conversation he claims he had with some Russian chess player who has rather conveniently died, and who in any case did not provide Hollander with one single fact to corroborate what he allegedly told him. What else does he have? The fact that you went up to Trinity at about the same time as Burgess, about the same time as Philby? So did a couple of hundred other men. The fact that you may have held some left-wing views during your time as a student? My God, James, if everyone who held left-wing views at University were to be suspected of treason, we would have to spend the next hundred years prosecuting them all. Hollander himself says that it was fashionable to be left-wing at the time, because of the Spanish war and so on. I am having some difficulty in seeing why anyone would take this article seriously.’

			‘People are taking it seriously,’ Digby insisted.

			‘But if that’s all he has, any jury would laugh him out of court – after ordering him to pay you an enormous sum in damages.’

			He turned towards Ben.

			‘Would a judge even leave the question to a jury in a criminal case?’

			Ben shook his head firmly. ‘Not a chance,’ he replied firmly.

			Wesley nodded. ‘What’s your feeling, Herbert?’

			‘I understand how James sees it,’ Harper replied. ‘But there are always choices. Suing for libel is a natural instinctive reaction in this kind of situation, but with libel, you always have to question whether it is the right thing to do. You have to think of the cost, for one thing, as I have said. And libel is always a double-edged sword. I must admit, I am not sure what to do in this case, but I think it must be considered very carefully. We are in no danger from the statute of limitations. We need to take our time and think about it.’

			Digby brought a hand down on Wesley’s desk.

			‘That’s all very well, Herbert, but this article is out there, making the rounds here at home, as well as in America. With every day that goes by, if I do nothing, my reputation suffers more and more damage.’

			‘Yes,’ Wesley said. ‘I do understand your concern.’

			‘Do you?’ Digby stood and reached down for his briefcase, which he had placed on the floor, leaning against the leg of his chair. He put a hand inside and took out a collection of newspapers. ‘Have you seen this? The Sunday Times, “Leading QC may have spied for Soviets”. The Daily Mail, “Has this Baronet betrayed his Country?”. The Daily Express, “Is this the face of the Fourth Man?”. Do you want more – do you remember what The Daily Mirror called me?’

			Wesley stood and leaned against his desk. 

			‘I have read every word of those articles, James, all of them. And I do understand how you feel. But allow me to tell you what is troubling me. Herbert is right about libel. It is a double-edged sword. If you win you are vindicated. On the other hand, if you lose, your reputation is damaged beyond repair, and if evidence has emerged a criminal prosecution may follow. As Barratt says, they can’t prosecute without evidence, and on the basis of the materials I have been shown, I do not see any evidence.’

			He paused for some seconds.

			‘And that is what concerns me.’

			‘I don’t follow, Bernard,’ Harper said.

			‘I am wondering why Hollander has taken the step of publishing such a serious libel without any evidence to back it up,’ Wesley replied. ‘He must have known that he was exposing himself to a potentially ruinous lawsuit; one to which Ben and I both fail to see he has any defence – unless he were able to show that what he has said is true. And if he compounds the libel by trying to justify it, the damages would generally be even greater. Not only that, he is now parading around London, virtually daring us to sue him. It doesn’t make sense to me. What does he have to gain?’

			‘Taking a charitable view,’ Harper said, ‘it is possible that he sees himself, however misguidedly, as acting in the public interest.’

			Wesley nodded. ‘Possibly. James, can you shed any light on this? What do you know about Hollander? Have you met him?’

			‘I have met him several times, at this or that chess tournament,’ Digby replied. ‘I have spoken to him. I have never done anything to offend him, as far as I am aware. I can’t claim to know him well, but my sense of Hollander is that he is a frustrated man. He is an average chess player, who would like to be a grandmaster but knows enough to realise that he never will. So he hangs around the fringes. He speaks some Russian – because of a family connection, I believe – so he can make himself useful to American players and teams travelling abroad for tournaments, and to the American delegations to FIDE. It gives him a sense of importance that he will never have as a player.’

			‘He is also an academic at a respected university,’ Wesley pointed out.

			‘He is an associate professor. I have no doubt that a little notoriety will do him no harm at Yale,’ Digby retorted. ‘He is obviously a shameless self-publicist, and apparently merely starting his own journal was not enough to satisfy his ambition.’

			Wesley seemed on the point of replying, but checked himself. ‘Well, it may not matter,’ he said. ‘I was curious, that’s all. His motives may become obvious as we go along.’

			He paused again.

			‘May I suggest that we all take time to think about this for a day or so in the light of what we have discussed? If, James, you then wish to proceed, Ben will draft the pleadings quickly, Herbert will serve them, and we will get the case under way.’

			‘I don’t need any more time to discuss the matter,’ Digby said. ‘What I need is to start restoring my reputation. My instructions are to sue Hollander for libel without delay.’

			Wesley nodded. ‘Your instructions are that this article is wholly false?’

			Digby drew himself up in his chair.

			‘Bernard, do you think for one moment that I would be here if …?’

			‘I have an obligation to ask,’ Wesley replied. ‘Think carefully, James. Is there anything in your past that could give rise to suspicion, even if it were unfounded? Anything to explain why Hollander may have got the wrong idea about you, put two and two together and made five?’

			‘No,’ Digby said. ‘And it is not a matter of getting the wrong idea. He is lying about me. We need to proceed with the action without delay.’

			‘Very well,’ Wesley replied. ‘But perhaps you would indulge me for a moment?’

			‘Of course.’

			Wesley walked to the bookcase to the right of his desk and took a volume from a shelf. 

			‘This is an anecdote of Chief Justice Holt in an old case called Johnson v Browning in 1704,’ he said. ‘The Chief Justice said he remembered: “another case very lately where a fellow brought an action for saying of him that he was a highwayman; and it appearing upon the evidence that he was so, he was taken in court, committed to prison, and convicted and hanged at the next sessions of gaol delivery. So that people ought to be well advised before they bring such actions.”’

			Wesley closed the book.

			‘Just some food for thought,’ he said.
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			Bernard Wesley had resumed his seat behind his desk. The consultation had ended, and everyone except Ben Schroeder and Jess Farrar had gone.

			‘I’ve asked the two of you to stay,’ he said, ‘because I think we need to make some further inquiries. I want to know more about Professor Francis R Hollander. I want to know who he is: his background, personal and academic; where he studied, what degrees he obtained; what his political affiliations are; and what he has written, apart from the present piece. If there is anything odd about him at all, I want to know. There is something not quite right about this case.’

			‘You mean, because he is making himself too available?’ Ben asked. ‘Acting as if he can’t wait to be sued?’

			‘That’s part of it, certainly,’ Wesley replied. ‘But I also want to know what his personal agenda is, and I want to know if there are people supporting him, people we can’t see at present. He claims to have had no contact with the CIA before he went to them with the Stepanov story. Is that true? Is there anything in his background which suggests otherwise?’

			‘I suppose it’s possible,’ Ben suggested, ‘that the American Government, or the CIA in particular, feels that it is not getting anywhere with our Government – too many people defecting and no one being held responsible – and they decided that it might be a good idea to bring it all out in public. If so, they might have put Hollander up to it.’

			‘Yes,’ Wesley agreed. ‘Then, the question becomes: have they done it speculatively, waiting to see what evidence might come out of the woodwork; or do they know something we don’t? We may not be able to find the answers to all these questions without some help from James. But he is in too emotional a state to help us very much at the moment, so I want to make a start without him.’

			‘I will start a trawl of the libraries tomorrow,’ Jess volunteered. ‘I will start digging and see what I can find.’

			‘Good,’ Wesley replied.

			‘I thought I might take a look at Stepanov,’ Ben added. ‘According to Hollander, he is the man who recruited James. I am not sure how much information there will be, but it may be worth taking a look.’

			‘I agree,’ Wesley said. ‘And give Jess whatever help you can.’

			‘Of course.’

			* * *

			Ben and Jess rose to leave, but Wesley gestured them to stay in their seats.

			‘There was something else I wanted to mention,’ he said. ‘There is no really delicate way to put this, but I think I am right in saying that you two are seeing each other. Is that the right expression? I’m not very au fait with how people express these things nowadays.’

			Ben and Jess exchanged smiles.

			‘Yes, we are,’ he replied. ‘And seeing each other is a good way to say it.’

			Wesley smiled thinly.

			‘Yes. The thing is that Jess works for Bourne & Davis.’

			‘Yes.’

			‘And Bourne & Davis send you instructions, brief you for their cases in the courts.’

			‘Yes.’

			‘Ben, you understand the implications, don’t you?’

			Ben’s smile suddenly vanished.

			‘Bernard, if you’re asking whether I know it’s frowned on for a barrister to socialise with solicitors who instruct him …’

			‘Or even solicitors who might instruct him, or their employees …’

			‘Yes. I am well aware of that.’

			‘Jess, I don’t mean to exclude you from the conversation,’ Wesley said. ‘But I’ve had a communication from the Middle Temple, the Inn of Court to which Ben and I both belong. They are concerned about what is called touting for work. It is a disciplinary offence for a barrister to use his social connections with a solicitor to tout for work. Obviously, a romantic involvement may count as socialising.’

			Ben shook his head in frustration.

			‘There is no reason for them to frown on anything,’ he insisted. ‘Not in our case.’

			Wesley looked him directly in the eye. He stood and walked around his desk to lean against the front.

			‘Ben, it goes a bit further than being frowned on. The Inn has set up a committee to look into any cases of apparent touting which come to its attention. Apparently, they feel that the rules are being disregarded, that it’s becoming more prevalent to have social contact between barristers and solicitors. They are afraid it is getting away from them. It’s not a trivial matter. Technically, you could get disbarred for it.’

			Jess looked at Ben in horror.

			‘For God’s sake,’ Ben protested. ‘It is the second half of the twentieth century, Bernard.’

			Wesley held his hands up hopelessly.

			‘I agree with you,’ he replied. ‘But as you well know, the Bar doesn’t live in the second half of the twentieth century. Some would say it is only now dragging itself rather reluctantly into the second half of the nineteenth. Don’t shoot the messenger, Ben. The Inn has raised the matter with me, about your particular situation and, as your Head of Chambers, I have a duty to bring it to your attention.’

			He paused.

			‘Look, I don’t mean to pry. But do you mind my asking? How serious is your relationship?’

			Ben closed his eyes. He was silent for some time. He looked at Jess, then back at Wesley.

			‘It is very serious,’ he replied quietly. ‘Jess kept me sane during the Cottage case. What with the verdict and the trip to the Court of Criminal Appeal, it was a very emotional time for me. And then, when Cottage was hanged … I know barristers are supposed to be objective and not get emotionally involved, but …’

			‘You can’t help it,’ Wesley replied. ‘You have to put your feelings on one side to make a good job of the case, but that doesn’t mean the feelings aren’t there.’

			Ben nodded. ‘I was able to deal with it most of the time, certainly while I was in court,’ he said. ‘But Jess’s support kept me going. She drove me to London to see my grandfather when he had his heart attack during the trial. After that, we gradually fell in love. I …’

			Wesley pushed himself up off the table.

			‘That’s all admirable,’ he said. ‘I’m not judging you, please believe me. In fact, I am all in favour. The only problem is how to get the Middle Temple off our backs.’

			‘Our backs?’ Ben asked pointedly.

			‘Yes. It comes back to me as Head of Chambers, as well as you.’

			‘My God,’ Jess said quietly.

			‘Look, don’t despair, either of you,’ Wesley said. ‘I’m not saying that we can’t find a way to deal with this. I am sure we can. But we can’t ignore it. What I am suggesting is that you allow me to undertake a little diplomacy on your behalf.’

			Ben looked up questioningly.

			‘I am a Bencher of the Inn, Ben. I am a member of the ruling body. I know how they think. I can talk to them in a way they will understand, and I have the seniority to be a bit more candid with them than you could be. Look, why don’t the two of you come up to Hampstead for dinner? I was telling Amélie about you and, of course, she now insists on meeting you and Jess. She is an incurable romantic, I’m afraid. I should have invited you long before. How would a Saturday be?’
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